IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI 2010-CA-01045

LISA WANSLEY

APPELLANT

VS.

VICTORIA BRENT

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF
HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

SUBMITTED BY:

Philip W. Gaines, Esq. (MSB # Christopher D. Morris, Esq. (MSB # Currie Johnson Griffin Gaines & Myers, P.A. 1044 River Oaks Drive Jackson, Mississippi 39232 Telephone: 601-969-1010

ATTORNEYS FOR THE APPELLANT, LISA WANSLEY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI 2010-CA-01045

LISA WANSLEY

APPELLANT

vs.

VICTORIA BRENT

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

There are many overlapping issues in this case, such as the correctness of denying remittitur, a grant of judgment notwithstanding the verdict, and/or a grant of a new trial. Wansley submits, however, that the significant underlying dispositive issue of the case is:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY REFUSING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON COMPARATIVE FAULT WHEN EVIDENCE OF NEGLIGENCE ON THE PART OF BOTH PLAINTIFF AND DEFENDANT WAS PRESENT.

That issue affects, and is the substantive underlying basis of, the resulting rulings that are appealed herein.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from a motor vehicle accident that occurred on August 10, 2006, in Jackson, Mississippi. The Appellee, Victoria Brent, filed suit against the Appellant, Lisa Wansley, in the County Court of Hinds County, Mississippi, on October 13, 2006. The case was tried before Honorable Houston J. Patton. The jury returned a verdict in favor of Brent in the amount of fifty-five thousand dollars (\$55,000.00). (Final Judgment, R.E. 80, R. 69). Wansley filed a Motion for JNOV, New Trial, or alternatively, Remittitur. (R.E. 81-97, R. 70-86). The County Court denied Wansley's Motion. (Order, R.E. 98, R. 108).

Wansley appealed to the Circuit Court of Hinds County on the basis that the County Court erred in refusing to instruct the jury on comparative fault/negligence per se and in denying Wansley's post-trial motions. (Statement of the Issues, R. 117-119). The

Circuit Court, through Honorable Winston L. Kidd, affirmed the County Court, holding in pertinent part that the jury's verdict was "...not based on inadequate instructions of law." (Opinion and Order, R.E. 100, R. 140). We seek reversal of that Circuit Court ruling and a remand of this case for trial in order to allow a comparative fault determination to be included in the jury's analysis.

The motor vehicle accident occurred at the intersection of Hanging Moss Road and the entrance of the Save-A-Lot Parking Lot. Hanging Moss Road has two northbound lanes, a center turn lane, and two southbound lanes. Daniel Wiggins, an independent witness to the accident, was driving an eighteen-wheeler carrying cardboard boxes stacked thirteen feet high. (Trial Transcript, R.E. 52, Lines 26-29; R.E. 56, Lines 12-14). Witness Wiggins' eighteen-wheeler was straddling the line between the two southbound lanes of Hanging Moss Road, as he needed to make a wide right turn to enter the Save-A-Lot parking lot. (Trial Transcript, R.E. 61, Lines 3-16). Defendant Wansley was waiting to turn left onto Hanging Moss, out of the Save-A-Lot parking lot. Witness Wiggins came to a complete stop and waited for approximately two or three minutes while waiting for Defendant Wansley to turn. (Trial Transcript, R.E. 55, Lines 20-22; R.E. 56, Lines 1-7). Plaintiff Brent was traveling south on Hanging Moss Road, approaching from behind Witness Wiggins. Wiggins testified that Brent passed his vehicle by "completely" entering the center turn lane. (Trial Transcript, R.E.

61, Lines 23-29; R.E. 62, Lines 1-12). As Brent passed Wiggins' vehicle, Wansley pulled out from the Save-A-Lot parking lot and their vehicles collided. (Trial Transcript, R.E. 62, Lines 1-12). At trial, Brent testified that she did not know whether Wiggins' vehicle was straddling the two southbound lanes, but she claimed, contrary to Wiggins' testimony, that she did not enter the center lane. (Trial Transcript, R.E. 47, Lines 13-29; R.E. 48, Lines 1-2).

The Trial Court instructed the jury that Plaintiff Brent would be negligent if they found by a preponderance of the evidence that she failed to maintain a proper lookout, failed to use reasonable care, or failed to keep her vehicle under proper control. (Instruction D-18, R.E. 8, R. 49). Brent's counsel initially objected to this instruction, but withdrew his objection. (Trial Transcript, R.E. 77, Lines 7-9). The Trial Court similarly instructed the jury that Defendant Wansley would be negligent if they found by a preponderance of the evidence that she failed to yield the right of way or failed to keep a proper lookout. (Instruction P-10, R.E. 10, R. 38; and Instruction P-11, R.E. 11, R. 39).

At trial, Counsel for Wansley proffered a comparative negligence instruction, Number D-17, seeking instruction to the jury on how to make a ruling if they found both Plaintiff and Defendant to be guilty of negligence, in conformity with Mississippi's legal rule for comparative fault negligence cases. (Instruction D-17, R.E. 6-7, R. 63-64). The Trial Court rejected

that proposed Instruction D-17, and instead only instructed the jury that it could find that either Brent or Wansley was negligent. (Trial Transcript, R.E. 76, Lines 11-17; see also Instruction P-2, R.E. 9, R. 33; Instruction D-18, R.E. 8, R. 49; Instruction P-10, R.E. 10, R. 38; Instruction P-11, R.E. 11, R. 39). The jury was not instructed, consistent with Mississippi's comparative negligence law, that they could find both Plaintiff and Defendant to be at fault, with an appropriate correlating percentage allocation and/or damages award reduction.

During closing argument, Plaintiff's Counsel asked the jury to return a verdict in Plaintiff's favor in the amount of \$55,000.00. (Opinion and Order; R.E. 99-100, R. 139-140). During deliberations, the jury sent out a note asking, "May we award a lesser amount?" (Note, R.E. 79; see also Opinion and Order, R.E. 99, R. 139). The Trial Judge responded with an admonition to "Just follow jury instructions." (Note, R.E. 79; see also Opinion and Order, R.E. 99-100, R. 139-140). The jury then returned their verdict against the Defendant in the amount of \$55,000. (Final Judgment, R.E. 80, R. 69).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON COMPARATIVE FAULT (INSTRUCTION D-17).

Both parties in the case, as well as the Trial Court rulings, were in agreement on the point that it was proper to submit the issue of each parties' negligence to the jury. However, we

respectfully submit that it was error to refuse to allow the jury to consider a finding of the presence of negligence on both Plaintiff and Defendant, as opposed to limiting them to only a Plaintiff or Defendant negligence finding in this case. The Trial Court improperly refused to allow the jury to make a comparative fault analysis. Even when the jury then sent out a note implying that their deliberations on the evidence gave rise to a comparative negligence situation, they were admonished to conform their deliberations to the instructions that erroneously excluded a comparative negligence option.

Wansley proffered Instruction D-17, which would have allowed the jury to allocate fault between both parties in accordance with Mississippi's comparative negligence law. The Trial Court rejected Instruction D-17, instead effectively telling the jury that they could only find that either Brent or Wansley was negligent. We respectfully contend that the Trial Court's rejection Instruction D-17 constitutes reversible error because the jury instructions given by the Court: (1) did not fairly and accurately reflect Mississippi law on comparative fault; (2) caused actual confusion among and misled the jury; and (3) did not allow the Defendant's proof-grounded comparative negligence defense to be effectively considered as an option by the fact-finders in the case. We also respectfully submit that this error was highlighted and compounded on the record by the Court's response when the jury's inquiry note was sent out, and that the overall evidence and record required a subsequent grant of the Defendant's request for a new trial.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON COMPARATIVE FAULT (INSTRUCTION D-17).

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing the denial of a proposed jury instruction, the "primary concern" of Mississippi's Appellate Courts is that "the jury was fairly instructed and that each party's proof-grounded theory of the case was placed before it." Young v. Guild, 7 So.3d 251, 259 (Miss. 2009). A party has a right to jury instructions that present her theory of the case if those instructions correctly state the law and are based on the evidence. Utz v. Running & Rolling Trucking, Inc., 32 So.3d 450, 474 (Miss. 2010); see also PACCAR Financial Corp. v. Howard, 615 So.2d 583, 590 (Miss. 1993) (a party is entitled to jury instructions on "all material issues presented in the pleadings or evidence"); and Boyd Tunica, Inc. v. Premier Transp. Services, Inc., 30 So.3d 1242, 1247-48 (Miss. Ct. App. 2010) (a party is entitled to jury instructions on a "genuine issue of material fact" based on "credible evidence").

Consideration of the refusal of a jury instruction requires that the evidence relevant to that proffered instruction be viewed in the light most favorable to the party requesting the instruction:

... The refusal of a timely requested and correctly phrased jury instruction on a genuine issue of material fact is

proper, only if the trial court — and this Court on appeal — can say, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the party requesting the instruction, and considering all reasonable favorable inferences which may be drawn from the evidence in favor of the requesting party, that no hypothetical, reasonable jury could find the facts in accordance with the theory of the requested instruction.

Clark v. Clark, 863 So.2d 1027, 1032 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004); quoting Hill v. Dunaway, 487 So.2d 807, 809 (Miss. 1986). In the present case, there is no real dispute on that aspect of this analysis - both parties agreed with the Trial Court's rulings that sufficient evidence was present to submit negligence instructions with regard to both Plaintiff and Defendant. Our aggrievement and contention in this appeal is that the Court erred in not allowing - after proper submission of negligence instructions regarding both parties - the jury to then find that both parties were negligent and to apply the requisite comparative negligence law standard to that finding, rather than limiting them solely to the all or nothing alternative that either Plaintiff or Defendant could be found negligent.

A trial court commits reversible error by rejecting a proposed jury instruction if the granted instructions, as a whole, do not fairly present the applicable law. Utz, at 32 So.3d 474; Young, at 7 So.3d 259. Reversal is also appropriate when the granted instructions are "likely to mislead or confuse the jury as to the principles of the law applicable to the facts in evidence." Young, at 7 So.3d 259. We respectfully submit that the either/or negligence option given by the esteemed authoritative Trial Court

in this case, with refusal to allow the jury to be instructed on the comparative negligence option, did not fairly present the applicable Mississippi law and misled the jury into believing, in conformity with the instructions and the subsequent admonition regarding those instructions when they inquired about their options, that they must find either Plaintiff or Defendant at fault. Such was a denial of Defendant's Due Process right to have her comparative negligence defense considered by the ultimate fact-finder in this case. We therefore contend that reversal is warranted, with Defendant to be given another trial on proper and fair instructions that allow a comparative negligence consideration by the jury.

B. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT FAIRLY AND ACCURATELY INSTRUCT THE JURY ON MISSISSIPPI'S LAW OF COMPARATIVE FAULT.

The jury was instructed that they could find that either Brent or Wansley was negligent. However, the Trial Court refused to instruct the jury that both parties could be negligent or telling them how to apply the rules of Mississippi's comparative negligence law to such a finding.

The Trial Court properly gave Jury Instruction D-18 on the issue of Plaintiff Brent's negligence:

Should you find from a preponderance of the evidence that the Plaintiff committed one or more of the following acts:

- (1) Failure to maintain a proper lookout;
- (2) Failed to use reasonable care; and
- (3) Failed to keep her vehicle under proper control.

Then you may find that the Plaintiff was negligent. Should you

further find by a preponderance of the evidence that the negligence of the Plaintiff caused the accident in question, then your verdict shall be for the Defendants.

Plaintiff Brent withdrew her initial objection to that instruction. (Trial Transcript, R.E. 77, Lines 7-9). The Trial Court likewise properly instructed the jury that Defendant Wansley would be negligent if they found by a preponderance of the evidence that she failed to yield the right of way or failed to keep a proper lookout. (Instruction P-10, R.E. 10, R. 38; Instruction P-11, R.E. 11, R. 39). However, the Court refused to allow Defendant's proffered instruction on comparative negligence, even though the other Court rulings necessarily confirmed the propriety of application of that legal doctrine to this case. As a matter of logical consistency, if comparative negligence is disallowed, how could the fact-finder still otherwise properly consider negligence option on both the Plaintiff and Defendant in this case? Or, in accordance with the standard of analysis required for proffered jury instructions, perhaps the question is more aptly and specifically presented as: If the jury could properly find on the evidence, in accordance with the instructions given to them, that a failure to maintain a proper lookout could render either driver quilty of negligence, then how can that same jury be barred from allocating percentages of fault if they find that both drivers are quilty?

Mississippi is a comparative fault state. Miss. Code Ann. § 11-7-15. Under the comparative fault doctrine "negligence is

measured in terms of percentage, and any damages allowed shall be diminished in proportion to [the] amount of negligence attributable to the [plaintiff]." Burton v. Barnett, 615 So.2d 580, 582 (Miss. 1993). The Trial Court gave Jury Instruction P-2:

If you reach a verdict for the Plaintiff in this case, it should be written on a separate piece of paper, need not be signed by you, and may be in the following form:

"We the jury, find for the Plaintiff, Victoria Brent, and assess her actual damages at \$_____."

If you reach a verdict for the Defendant in this case, it should be written on a separate piece of paper, need not be signed by you and may be in the following form:

"We the jury, find for the Defendant."

(Instruction P-2, R.E. 9, R. 33). At trial, Defendant Wansley's attorney (Mr. Rogers) contended to the Court that this instruction was inadequate, seeking an alternative instruction with the requisite comparative fault options available on the jury verdict form. Plaintiff Brent's counsel disagreed with this, and the Court choose to proceed solely with the "find for either party" option:

MR. TATUM: We will withdraw number 1. Number 2 we'd ask the Court to give. It gives the jury an opportunity to

find for either party.

MR. ROGERS: I don't think that does, Your Honor, especially the portion of fault. I suggest we use our special verdict form [Instruction D-17]. I don't think Mr.

Tatum made an objection to it earlier.

MR. TATUM: I haven't heard any evidence that Ms. Brent

actually caused the accident. You didn't even put

As noted above, Brent conceded that the issue of her negligence was properly before the jury, as she withdrew her objection to Instruction D-18.

on a witness. We are asking P-2 be given.

THE COURT: P-2 is a pretty standard instruction, so we will give P-2.

(Trial Transcript, R.E. 66, Lines 3-17). Defendant Wansley's attorney here sought to have the jury instructed on Mississippi's law of comparative negligence through the proffered special verdict form [Instruction D-17], which stated:

In returning your verdict in this case, you are to consider all of the facts and instructions of law given to you, and then return your verdict by completing this form. When a verdict has been reached by five (5) or more members of the jury, write out your answers to the following questions on this form and notify the bailiff that you have reached a verdict.

ict.	
1.	Do you find from a preponderance of the evidence that the Plaintiff, Victoria Brent, was guilty of any negligence (fault) which was a proximate contributing cause to her own injuries?
	YES NO
2.	If your answer to Question No. 1 is "YES", please state the percentage of negligence (fault) for the Plaintiff, Victoria Brent, as compared to all of the negligence (fault) which caused her own damages.
	PERCENT
3.	Do you find from a preponderance of the evidence that the Defendant, Lisa Wansley, was guilty of any negligence (fault) which was a proximate contributing cause to the plaintiff's damages?
	YES NO

4. If your answer to Question No. 3 is "YES", please state the percentage of negligence (fault) for the Defendant, Lisa Wansley, as compared to all of the

negligence (fault) which caused the plaintiff's damages.

PERCENT

If you find that any of the aforementioned persons is not guilty of any negligence, enter a "0" (zero) in the blank for that person. THE TOTAL PERCENTAGES IN QUESTIONS NUMBERED 2 AND 4 MUST EQUAL 100 PERCENT.

5. What is the total amount of damages incurred by the plaintiff, Victoria Brent as a result of the accident in question?

\$______

(Instruction D-17, R.E. 6-7, R. 63-64).² In arguing that this Instruction should be given, counsel for Wansley stated to the Trial Court that:

Your Honor, the Court needs to instruct the jury on contributing cause. She [(Brent)] may have contributed to the accident. The jury should be given that.

(Trial Transcript, R.E. 74, Lines 12-16). The Trial Court nevertheless refused to grant Instruction D-17. (Trial Transcript R.E. 76, Lines 11-17).

Mississippi's comparative fault principles are applicable to this case as it is undisputed that the issue of both parties'

Numerous alternative comparative negligence special verdict forms are now circulating amoung trial court practitioners and judges. Appellant's counsel herein is frankly of the opinion that the form frequently utilized by then Circuit Judge James E. Graves, Jr., and the late Circuit Judge Robert G. Evans is probably superior to the form proffered as Instruction D-17 in this case. We note that guidance on this issue from this Court as to the preferred general comparative negligence form may be helpful to trial court practitioners and judges. However, the point of this issue in this appeal is that the refusal of the proffered Instruction D-17 deprived the Defendant of her right to a fair submission of her comparative negligence defense as an option to the fact-finder in this case.

negligence was properly before the jury. However, the jury was instructed only that they could find that either Brent or Wansley was negligent. The Trial Court refused to instruct the jury that they could find that both parties were negligent and to allocate the percentages of such negligence in conformity with the complete evidence and law for the case. The jury was instead only instructed with an "all or nothing" approach to negligence, which is, of course, inconsistent with Mississippi law. Reversal is required where, as here, the jury instructions did not fairly and accurately reflect Mississippi's applicable law. Utz, at 32 So.3d 474; Young, at 7 So.3d 259.

C. REVERSAL IS REQUIRED AS THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS RESULTED IN ACTUAL CONFUSION AMONG THE JURY AND/OR ACTUALLY MISLED THE JURY.

Reversal is appropriate when jury instructions are "likely to mislead or confuse the jury as to the principles of the law applicable to the facts in evidence." Young, at 7 So.3d 259. In this case it is evident that the instructions were not only "likely" to mislead or confuse the jury, the record confirms that the instructions actually did mislead and confuse the jury, especially when coupled with the admonition given when they inquired about their available options during deliberations.

The jury was instructed that Plaintiff Brent was negligent if she failed to maintain a proper lookout, failed to use reasonable care, and/or failed to keep her vehicle under proper control. (Instruction D-18, R.E. 8, R. 49). They were instructed that

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