IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

2010-CA-01045

LISA WANSLEY

Appellant

VS.

VICTORIA BRENT

Appellee

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi

> Joe N. Tatum (MSB Tatum & Wade, PLLC P.O. Box 22688 124 East Amite Street Jackson, Mississippi 39225-2688 (601) 948-7770

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

Victoria Brent Plaintiff/Appellee

Lisa Wansley Defendant/Appellant

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

ı

¹ Brent is referring to Wansley's Record Excerpts.

lot. Being already on Hanging Moss Road, Brent had the right-of-way as opposed to Wansley who was exiting the Sav-A-Lot parking lot. As Brent was passing the Sav-A-Lot, Lisa Wansley pulled out of the Sav-A-Lot parking lot in front of Brent and the two cars collided.

Brent was taken by ambulance to St. Dominic Hospital. T. 12. The doctors there suspected a neck fracture and had several x-rays taken. T. 13. The doctors told Brent she suffered from a bruised sternum and that any pain she was suffering would probably be worse the next day. T. 15. The pain did get worse and she sought treatment from Dr. Tarver at the Flowood Medical Center some 16 times. T. 15, 31. At the time of the trial, October 2007, Brent testified that she was still suffering pain in her lower back and neck. T. 16. She no longer goes to the gym and it hurts for her to sit all day at her job. T. 17.

The driver of the truck, Daniel Wiggins, testified that he was in the lane next to the Sav-A-Lot parking lot but was somewhat straddling the next lane (Brent's lane) as well, since the size of his truck requires wide turns. In fact, Sav-A-Lot was his destination. Wiggins' flatbed truck was loaded with bales of cardboard so as Wansley sitting in the Sav-A-Lot parking lot could not see over the truck for southbound traffic on Hanging Moss Road. T. 45. Because of the size of his truck, any turns he makes are wide turns and he needs a certain amount of room to make them. T. 50. Wiggins stated that he was unable to make the right turn into the Sav-A-Lot parking lot as long as Wansley's vehicle was in the entrance/exit to the parking lot. Therefore, Wiggins came to a **complete stop** waiting for Wansley's vehicle to clear the exit/entrance lane. T. 44. Both Wiggins and Wansley sat in their respective vehicles **for two or three minutes**. T. 45. As Wiggins sat there, a vehicle (belonging to Brent) passed his truck in the left lane next to

his. T. 46. At the same time, Wansley exited the parking lot intending to enter the northbound lane (*Appellant's Brief p. 2*) and the two vehicles collided.

The defendant put on no evidence but requested a directed verdict after the plaintiff rested. T. 52-53. The motion was denied. The defendant requested that the court instruct the jury on comparative negligence but the court denied the instruction.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court was entirely correct in refusing to give the jury a comparative negligence instruction in this case. The evidence shows that Wansley was blindly exiting a parking lot and crossing two lanes of traffic in so doing. An 18 wheeler was stopped in the lane closest to the Sav-A-Lot parking lot with bales of cardboard blocking Wansley's view of southbound traffic on Hanging Moss Road. Because of its size, the 18 wheeler was unable to enter the parking lot until Wansley moved her vehicle. Wansley moved into the 18 wheeler's lane of traffic and then collided with a vehicle (Brent's) in the second (left) southbound lane. Brent clearly had the right-of-way and she was in no way negligent in continuing in her lane of traffic with the expectation that a vehicle would not blindly make a left turn directly in front of her. All Wansley had to do to avoid this collision was to back her vehicle up a few feet so that the 18 wheeler truck could turn into the Sav-A-Lot parking lot and she (Wansley) could actually see oncoming traffic on Hanging Moss Road.

Even if the collision occurred as Wansley's counsel alleges, the collision just would have occurred a few seconds later as Brent's vehicle would have been a few feet further away from the Sav-A-Lot parking lot in the center lane. Brent still would have held the right-of- away.

Ū.,

i

Nor was the \$55,000 awarded Brent on her specials of \$6,465.40 a result of a runaway jury entitling Wansley to a new trial or a remittitur. The verdict was a mere eight-and-one-half times the specials and, as such, was well within the scope of verdicts upheld by this Court.

LAW AND ARGUMENT

1. The trial court did not err in refusing to instruct the jury on comparative fault.

Wansley's argument that Brent could also have been at fault was based on § 63-3-603

titled "Use of lanes". CP. 65. That statute states as follows:

Whenever any roadway has been divided into three (3) or more clearly marked lanes for

traffic, except through or bypassing a municipality, the following rules in addition to all others

consistent herewith shall apply:

Ł

(a) A vehicle shall be driven as nearly as practical entirely within a single lane and shall not be moved from such lane until the driver has first ascertained that such movement can be made with safety.

(b) A vehicle shall not be driven in the center lane upon a roadway which is divided into three (3) lanes except when:

(i) Overtaking and passing another vehicle where the roadway is clearly visible and such center lane is clear of traffic within a safe distance;

(ii) Such vehicle is in preparation for a left turn; or

(iii) Such center lane is at the time allocated exclusively to traffic moving in the direction such vehicle is proceeding and is signposted to give notice of such allocation.

(c) Official signs may be erected directing slow-moving traffic to use a designated lane or allocating specified lanes to traffic moving in the same direction, and drivers of vehicles shall obey the directions of every such sign. (d) Upon all roadways any vehicle proceeding at less than the normal speed of traffic at the time and place and under the conditions then existing shall be driven in the right-hand lane then available for traffic, or as close as practicable to the right-hand curb or edge of the roadway, except when overtaking and passing another vehicle proceeding in the same direction or when preparing for a left turn at an intersection or into a private road or driveway.

(e) Persons riding bicycles upon a roadway shall not ride more than two (2) abreast except on paths or parts of roadways set aside for the exclusive use of bicycles. Persons riding two (2) abreast shall not impede the normal and reasonable movement of traffic and, on a laned roadway, shall ride within a single lane.

Miss. Code Ann. § 63-3-603.

While Brent denies ever driving in the "center or turn" lane of Hanging Moss Road, nothing in M.C.A. § 63-3-603 prohibited her from doing so under the facts of this case. Brent testified that she never entered the center lane and always drove in the left southbound lane at all relevant times. For example, section 63-3-603(b)(i) specifically authorizes a driver to drive in the center lane when "overtaking and passing another vehicle where the roadway is clearly visible and such center lane is clear of traffic within a safe distance ." This is exactly what Brent would have been doing if one is to believe Wansley's counsel's version of events. Wansley put on no evidence at trial, so all of her factual allegations on appeal are strictly Wansley's counsel's spin on what occurred. Brent had every right to be using the left south-bound lane of a fourlaned road and, indeed, she had the right-of-way and Wansley was the solely negligent party when she exited the Sav-A-Lot parking lot in front of Brent. Indeed, Wansley's exiting the Sav-A-Lot parking lot when Wiggins' large truck was obstructing her view of the right south-bound lane was reckless.

M.C.A. § 63-3-603(b) does not support Wansley's contention that Brent was solely or even partially responsible for the collision and the trial court (and the Circuit Court on appeal) was entirely correct when it refused to instruct the jury on comparative fault.

But even assuming Brent was using the "center or turn" lane (defined by M.C.A. § 63-3-603 as the center lane in a three lane road), she was using it correctly. Once she was in that lane, she had the right-of-way- and Wansley had no business turning in front of her blindly. So, once again, we have a scenario where the fault is 100% Wansley's.

The cases cited by Wansley are all inapplicable here. In McRee v. Haney, 493 So.2d 1299 (Miss. 1986), a police motorcyclist and the driver of an automobile were driving toward each other. At an intersection, the driver of the vehicle, Raney, began a left turn. At some point in the turn, he observed the motorcycle in the lane coming toward him and Raney stopped his vehicle hoping the motorcycle would go around him. McRee, 493 So.2d at 1300. Nevertheless, McRee, the policeman, crashed his vehicle into Raney's. Id. For reasons not apparent on the record, the jury found for Raney, the vehicle driver. On appeal, the Mississippi Supreme Court reversed finding that McRee was entitled to a peremptory instruction that Raney, by making a left turn in front of another vehicle, was negligent as a matter of law. McRee, 493 So.2d at 1301. This case supports Brent's case, not Wansley's. The person making a left turn may do so only if there is no traffic that would prevent him from doing so safely. In this case, Wansley exited a parking lot in front of a stopped 18-wheeler. Because of the position of the 18 wheeler, Wansley was unable to see Wansley in the lane next to the 18 wheeler and, thus, made a left turn at a time when it was unsafe to do so. Wansley, then, like, Raney, was negligent as a matter of law and there was no issue of comparative negligence for the jury to consider.

Nobles v. Unruh, 198 So2d. 245 (Miss. 1067) is also cited by Wansley in support of her case. In that case, a passenger was killed when the driver of his car attempted to pass a transport truck on a four lane highway. Instead of trying to pass in a lane going in the same direction as the transport truck, the automobile entered the lane going in the opposite direction and collided with a vehicle that was rightfully in that lane. The trial court entered judgment for the defendant. On appeal, the Court reversed holding that the jury should have been peremptorily instructed that a passing vehicle when it entered the passing lane (the lane in which traffic normally drove in the opposite direction) without first ascertaining it was safe to do so, was negligent as a matter of law. *Nobles*, 198 So.2d at 247. The same result was also had in *Nobles v. Unruh*, 198 So.2d 245 (Miss. 1967), also cited by Wansley even though it stands for the proposition that a vehicle attempting to pass another is automatically liable (liable as a matter of law) when he does so without first determining whether it is safe to do so. *Nobles*, 198 So. 2d at 247.

A case more like the instant one is *Rotwein v. Holman*, 529 So.2d 173 (Miss. 1988), in which Holman rear-ended another car as she was exiting a parking lot. The trial court gave a peremptory instruction in favor of the driver who had been rear-ended. *Rotwein*, 529 So.2d at 174-175.

The general rule is that "[t]he operator of a motor vehicle should stop before emerging from a private alley where stopping is essential to assure safety." CJS MOTORVEH § 688. This is why M.C.A. § 63-3-805 entitled "Entering highway; stop signs" states as follows:

> The driver of a vehicle shall stop as required by this chapter at the entrance to a through highway and shall yield the right-of-way to other vehicles which have entered the intersection from said through highway or which are approaching so closely on said through highway as to constitute an immediate hazard. However, said driver having so yielded may proceed and the drivers of all

other vehicles approaching the intersection on said through highway shall yield the right-of-way to the vehicle so proceeding into or across the through highway.

The driver of a vehicle shall likewise stop in obedience to a stop sign as required by this chapter at an intersection where a stop sign is erected at one or more entrances thereto although not a part of a through highway and shall proceed cautiously, yielding to vehicles not so obliged to stop which are within the intersection or approaching so closely as to constitute an immediate hazard, but may then proceed.

Miss. Code Ann. § 63-3-805. Thus, when a motorist enters the highway from a private driveway, that motorist is the **sole** cause of accident where it collides in **the** roadway with a motorist going within the speed limit. *Stribling v. Hauerkamp*, 771 So.2d 415, 417 (Miss.App. 2000).

In this case, Wansley exited the parking lot, crossed in front of the stopped 18-wheeler and collided with Brent's vehicle which had been hidden by the 18-wheeler and, because it was in a lane it had a right to be in, had the right of way. The trial court was perfectly correct to deny Wansley a comparative damages instruction. All of the liability in this case was Wansley's.

2. The trial court did not err in denying the Appellant's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, Motion for new Trial, or Motion for Remittitur.

Wanlsey argues that the award of \$55,000 is not supported by the evidence and is a reflection of the allegedly wrong instructions.

The standard of review for a directed verdict or a judgment notwithstanding the verdict also is de novo. *See United Am. Ins. Co. v. Merrill*, 978 So.2d 613, 624 (Miss.2007). " 'In essence, judgments as a matter of law present both the trial court and appellate court with the same question-whether the evidence, as applied to the elements of a party's case, is either so

indisputable, or so deficient, that the necessity of a trier of fact has been obviated.'" *Id.* quoting *White v. Stewman*, 932 So.2d 27, 32 (Miss.2006).

The standard of review for a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict requires that the Court consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, giving that party the benefit of all favorable inference[s] that may be reasonably drawn from the evidence. *Steele v. Inn of Vicksburg, Inc.*, 697 So.2d 373, 376 (Miss.1997). "If the evidence is sufficient to support a verdict in favor of the non-moving party, the trial court should deny the motion. *Henson v. Roberts*, 679 So.2d 1041, 1044-1045 (Miss.1996). In other words, the Court is to consider "whether the evidence, as applied to the elements of a party's case, is either so indisputable, or so deficient, that the necessity of a trier of fact has been obviated." *White v. Stewman*, 932 So.2d 27, 32 (Miss.2006).

Mississippi Code Annotated section 11-1-55 provides the standard for when a remittitur, or additur, for damages is appropriate. That statute states:

The supreme court or any other court of record in a case in which money damages were awarded may overrule a motion for new trial or affirm on direct or cross[-]appeal, upon condition of an additur or remittitur, if the court finds that the damages are excessive or inadequate for the reason that the jury or trier of the facts was influenced by bias, prejudice, or passion, or that the damages awarded were contrary to the overwhelming weight of credible evidence. If such additur or remittitur be not accepted[,] then the court may direct a new trial on damages only. If the additur or remittitur is accepted and the other party perfects a direct appeal, then the party accepting the additur or remittitur shall have the right to cross[-]appeal for the purpose of reversing the action of the court in regard to the additur or remittitur.

Id. Whether a verdict is excessive is determined on a case-by-case basis, and a court should not disturb the award unless the amount, in comparison to the actual damages, "shocks the

conscience" of the court. *Entergy Miss., Inc. v. Bolden,* 854 So.2d 1051, 1058(¶20) (Miss.2003). In other words, the question is whether the verdict is so excessive or inadequate as to indicate bias, passion and prejudice on the part of the factfinder. *Walker v. Gann,* 955 So.2d 920, 931 (Miss.App. 2007).

The parties stipulated that Brent incurred medical bills in the amount of \$6,465.40. CP. 125. A properly-instructed jury awarded her \$55,000 or eight-and-one-half times the actual medical bills. The appellant did not include Brent's opening and/or closing statements to the jury in the record and, thus, to the extent that Wansley blames any improper argument on the part of Brent for the alleged impermissibly high jury award, that objection has been waived by Brent's failure to include those portions of the trial into the record. *Nelson v. State*, 919 So.2d 124, 126(¶ 7) (Miss.Ct.App.2005).

Brent was treated at the hospital the same day as the accident and was told she suffered from a bruised sternum and possible neck fracture. The pain got worse over time and she sought treatment from her treating physician some 16 times. At the time of the trial, October 2007, Brent testified that she was still suffering pain in her lower back and neck. T. 16. She no longer goes to the gym and it hurts for her to sit all day at her job. T. 17.

4

÷

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